**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**  
**In the Supreme Court**

---

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 12 2016  
SC SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-000021  
Case No. 2015-CP-40-01728

---

Gail M. Hutto, Debra J. Andrews, Elizabeth W. Hodge, Margaret B. Lineberger, Lynn R. Rogers, Nancy G. Sullivan, Jane P. Terwilliger, Julian W. Walls, and all others similarly situated.....Appellants,

v.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether claim and issue preclusion can bar a federal claim raised by a class of plaintiffs who have never had the merits of their case decided and are mutually exclusive to an earlier class of litigants proceeding under an entirely different theory?

II. Whether there is a protected property right in earned wages, or whether all protected property interests arise exclusively as a matter of state statutory law?

III. Whether the affirmative defense of statute of limitations and laches can be grounds for dismissal based on assumptions unsupported by a factual record?

IV. Whether the mandate that earned wages be seized and deposited into a state pension plan to fund the cost of other people's retirement is an unconstitutional redistribution of private property that violates the takings clause?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court's November 2, 2015 Order granting Respondents' motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim.

Appellants filed this action on March 19, 2015, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief. On April 23, 2015, Respondents moved the Circuit Court for dismissal and petitioned this Court for original jurisdiction. The petition was opposed and denied.

On September 28, 2015, the Honorable Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge, held a hearing on Respondents' motion. After hearing argument, Judge Gee granted Respondents' motion. On November 2, 2015, the Circuit Court entered the Order at issue here. The undersigned received notice of the order on November 9, 2015.

Ten days later, Appellants moved for reconsideration. That motion was denied in an order dated December 7, 2015.

Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal on January 6, 2016, and served Respondents that same day. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to South Carolina Code § 14-8-200(b)(3) and Rule 203 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.

## FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Appellants are the employees of school districts and counties who earned retirement pensions through years of financial contributions, retired, began collecting their pensions, and later returned to work as “Working Retirees.” These teachers and civil servants are asking this Court to return wages seized from them by operation of an unconstitutional state law. This law—the State Retirement System Preservation and Investment Reform Act, Act No. 153, 2005 S.C. Acts 1697 (Act 153)—mandates that their employers deduct earned wages from their paychecks and deposit them into the State’s pension trust to fund the cost of other people’s retirement benefits. Act 153 reduces the funding obligations of future retirees and their employers. This taking benefits everyone but Appellants and the class of hundreds of other teachers, civil servants, police officers, and firefighters who receive *nothing* in return—no increase in pension benefits, no additional service credit.

Working Retirees seeking a declaration that South Carolina Code §§ 9-1-1790(C) and 9-11-90(4)(c) unconstitutionally redistribute their property to private individuals in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and injunctive relief ordering the return of their wages.

### **The Retirement Systems’ statutory tax-exempt pension trust scheme**

Respondents South Carolina Retirement System (SCRS) and Police Officers Retirement System (PORS) (collectively the “Retirement Systems”) are multi-employer, defined-benefit pension plans with the powers and privileges of corporations. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 9-1-10 et seq. (SCRS) & 9-11-10 et seq. (PORS) (1986 & Supp. 2015). SCRS was created by statute to provide retirement benefits to the employees of public school districts, counties, municipalities, and the State of South Carolina. Id. §§ 9-1-10(14) & 9-1-20.

Likewise, PORS is a statutorily-created retirement system created for the benefit of state and local law enforcement and firefighters. Id. §§ 9-11-20 & 9-11-48. Upon retirement, a vested beneficiary of the Retirement Systems receives a defined pension benefit calculated by multiplying the employee's years of service by her average final compensation by either 1.82 (SCRS) or 2.14 (PORS) percent. R. pp. \_\_ (Cmpl., Ex. A at 3 & 16-17; Ex. B at 2 & 10).

This benefit is funded through mandatory contributions by employees and employers. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 9-1-1020, 9-1-1050, 9-1-1085, 9-11-210, 9-11-220 & 9-11-225 (1986 & Supp. 2015). Employers must deduct employee contributions from each paycheck and transfer the funds to the Retirement Systems. Id. § 9-1-1160(A) (Supp. 2015). Contribution rates are actuarially determined. See id. § 9-1-1060 (1986). Employer contributions are calculated as a percentage of the employee's gross earnings and are also transmitted to the Retirement Systems. R. pp. \_\_ (Cmpl., Ex. D at 24); see also S.C. Code Ann. §§ 9-1-1050 & 9-1-1170 (Supp. 2015) (mandating contributions). Participation in the Retirement Systems is mandatory for the employees of covered employers. R. pp. \_\_ (Cmpl., Ex. A at 3 & 5; Ex. B at 2 & 5).

The State is just one of over 600 participating SCRS and PORS employers.

Contributed funds are held in trust by the South Carolina Retirement Systems' Group Trust (Trust). S.C. Code Ann. § 9-16-20 (Supp. 2015). The Trust holds SCRS and PORS funds, as well as the funds of three other statutorily-created pension plans not at

issue in this case.<sup>1</sup> Id. These five retirement plans are created and governed by the “Retirement Systems Act” codified in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code, as amended. The South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority (PEBA) and the State Fiscal Accountability Authority (Authority)<sup>2</sup> are co-trustees of the Retirement Systems. S.C. Code Ann. § 9-1-1310 (Supp. 2015). The PEBA and Authority (collectively “Trustees”) are the fiduciaries charged with administering the Trust, while another entity, the Retirement System Investment Commission (Commission), is charged with investing Trust assets.<sup>3</sup> Id.

The Retirement Systems were established as tax-deferred pension benefit plans authorized by the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). See 26 U.S.C. § 401(a). The Retirement System Act mandates that the Trustees “hold the assets of the retirement systems in a group trust under Section 401(a)(24) of the [IRC] that meets the requirements of [Treasury] Revenue Ruling 81-100, 1981-1 C.B. 326, as amended by Revenue Ruling 2004-67.” S.C. Code Ann. § 9-16-20(C) (Supp. 2015). Section 401(a) authorizes the creation of pension

---

<sup>1</sup> The Trust also holds funds for the Retirement System for Judges and Solicitors, the Retirement System for Members of the General Assembly, and the National Guard Retirement System. S.C. Code Ann. § 9-16-10(8) (Supp. 2015).

<sup>2</sup> Created through the enactment of the South Carolina Restructuring Act, Act No. 121, 2014 S.C. Acts 1739, eff. July 1, 2015, the State Fiscal Accountability Authority (Authority) is a successor entity to the South Carolina Budget and Control Board (B&CB), which previously served as co-trustee. The Authority’s members are the Governor, State Treasurer, Comptroller General, Chair of the House Ways and Means Committee, and Chair of the Senate Finance Committee, all serving *ex officio*. S.C. Code Ann. § 11-55-10 (Supp. 2015). The PEBA is governed by an 11-member board of non-state officers appointed by the members of the Authority. S.C. Code Ann. § 9-4-10 (Supp. 2015). Prior to 2012, the B&CB was the Retirement Systems’ sole trustee.

<sup>3</sup> The Commission’s members include the State Treasurer, serving *ex officio*, five individuals appointed by the remaining Authority members, and the executive director of the PEBA, serving *ex officio* without voting power. S.C. Code Ann. § 9-16-315 (Supp. 2015).

trusts that exempt trust contributions from the calculation of a taxpayer's taxable gross income. 26 U.S.C. §§ 401(a), 402 & 501(a). By exempting trust contributions from a taxpayer's gross income calculation, the IRC defers taxation of this income until the taxpayer begins collecting her pension. *Id.* This allows the corpus of the trust to grow tax-exempt during the taxpayer's high-tax earning years at considerable benefit to the taxpayer.

This tax benefit is permitted only if the funds are held in a "qualified" § 401(a) trust. This means that the trust fund must be held for the "exclusive benefit" of the employee and that "it [must be] impossible, at any time prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities with respect to employees and their beneficiaries under the trust, for any part of the corpus or income to be [...] used for, or diverted to, purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of his employees or their beneficiaries." 26 U.S.C. § 401(a)(2) (emphasis added). A qualified trust must also observe some minimally-proscribed vesting threshold, after which an employee's pension benefit becomes non-forfeitable. *Id.* §§ 401(a)(7) & 411. Furthermore, the trust must provide "that forfeitures must not be applied to increase the benefits any employee would otherwise receive under the plan." *Id.* § 401(a)(8). These provisions protect employee funds and ensure equal tax treatment for similarly situated taxpayers.

The SCRS and the PORS purport to be qualified § 401(a) trust plans. An employee becomes a vested member of the SCRS or the PORS after earning five years' worth of service credit. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 9-1-1510 (SCRS) & 9-11-60 (PORS); see also R. pp. \_\_ (Cmpl., Ex. A at 16; Ex. B at 10). Service credit is earned through regular payroll deductions deposited into the Retirement Systems. *Id.* §§ 9-1-10(7) & (9); R. pp. \_\_ (Cmpl., Ex. A at 5-6; Ex. B at 6).

### Adoption of Act 153

From 1969 until July 1, 2005, the Retirement System Act allowed vested retirees to begin collecting their pension and then return to covered employment without having to make further contributions to the Retirement Systems.<sup>4</sup> On July 1, 2005, Act 153 took effect. Act 153 changed the Retirement Systems by mandating that participating employers take a portion of a working retiree's wages and deposit them in the Retirement Systems without compensating them for this loss.

Specifically, Act 153 requires a retiree who begins collecting her pension and returns to covered employment to make contributions to the Retirement Systems "as if the member were an active contributing member[.]" S.C. Code Ann. §§ 9-1-1790(C) (Supp. 2015) (SCRS) and 9-11-90(4)(c) (Supp. 2015) (PORS). The working retiree "does not accrue additional service credit in the system" for these contributions. *Id.* As the Retirement Systems' handbooks explain, a working retiree must "contribute a tax-deferred 6.5 percent of their gross pay into their retirement account. Working retirees will not earn additional service credit or receive interest on their account." R. pp. \_\_ (Cmpl., Ex. A at 25; Ex. B at 14); see also R. pp. \_\_ (Cmpl., Ex. D at 24, 68; Ex. E at 11-12; Ex. F at 1).

In 2012, the General Assembly adopted an employee contribution rate schedule that increased the contribution mandate from the then-current 6.5 percent of an employee's gross earnings up to 8.0 percent by spreading the increase over three fiscal years. See Act

---

<sup>4</sup> In 2001, the General Assembly enacted the Teacher and Employee Retention Incentive (TERI) Program, creating two ways whereby a retiree could return to covered employment. See Layman v. State, 368 S.C. 631, 634, 630 S.E.2d 265, 267 (2006). While there were differences in how these retirees received benefits after returning to work, neither the "old TERI participants" or the "old working retirees" were required to make any additional contributions to the SCRS or the PORS after returning to work.

No. 278, 2012 S.C. Acts 2278, Pt. I, § 4 (codified at S.C. Code Ann. §§ 9-1-1085 & 9-11-225 (Supp. 2015)).

**Appellants' federal action (Hutto I & II)**

Appellants and the proposed class are vested beneficiaries of SCRS and PORS who retired, began collecting their pension, and then returned to covered employment *after* Act 153 took effect on July 1, 2005 (referred to herein as “Working Retirees”).

Working Retirees originally filed this action on August 2, 2010, in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina claiming Act 153 is a deprivation of private property without just compensation prohibited by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. See Hutto v. S. Carolina Ret. Sys., 4:10-cv-02018-JMC (D.S.C) (Dkt. No. 1) (R. pp. \_\_ (Pls.’ Mem. Opp. Dismiss, Ex. 1)). Working Retirees argued that this constitutional prohibition is made clearer by the federal statutory protections afforded to IRC § 401(a) pension plan trust participants whose retirement contributions may not be forfeited, used, or diverted for any purpose other than the exclusive benefit of the employee. See R. pp. \_\_ (Pls.’ Mem. Opp. Dismiss, Ex. 1 at 13-14).

Respondents<sup>5</sup> moved to dismiss the federal action claiming (1) Appellants failed to state a cognizable claim for unconstitutional deprivation of their property and (2) that the Eleventh Amendment renders Respondents immune from suit in federal court. See Defs.’ Mot. Dismiss, Hutto, 4:10-cv-02018-JMC (Dkt. No. 11). The District Court dismissed the federal action based upon the Eleventh Amendment sovereign immunity

---

<sup>5</sup> In addition to Respondents, Appellants also joined the members of the B&CB and the PEBA executive director, all in their official capacity, pursuant to the doctrine in Ex parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908). For reasons made clear below, there was no reason to join these individuals here.

defense without addressing the merits of Appellants' constitutional claims. Hutto v. S. Carolina Ret. Sys., 899 F. Supp. 2d 457, 465 (D.S.C. 2012) (Hutto I).

Appellants sought review by the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit arguing, the Eleventh Amendment notwithstanding, sovereign immunity never bars a constitutional takings claim. Hutto v. S. Carolina Ret. Sys., 773 F.3d 536, 551 (4th Cir. Dec. 5, 2014) (Hutto II). The Fourth Circuit affirmed the sovereign immunity dismissal, explaining that “[b]ecause the plaintiffs can have their takings claims heard in South Carolina state courts, the Eleventh Amendment does not render the Takings Clause an empty promise.” Id. at 552-53. Seeking to make good on that promise, Appellants re-filed this federal takings claim in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas.

#### **Appellants' federal takings claim**

The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution protect private property from unreasonable and arbitrary government deprivation, U.S. Const. amend. V & XIV, including deprivations designed to redistribute private property from one individual to another private individual. See, e.g., Hawaii Housing Authority v. Midkiff, 467 U.S. 229, 245 (1984) (“A purely private taking could not withstand the scrutiny of the public use requirement; it would serve no legitimate purpose of government and would thus be void.”).

Working Retirees are vested, retired members of either SCRS or PORS who, on or after July 1, 2005, were rehired by covered employers and have been forced to make contributions to the Retirement System. R. pp. \_\_ (Compl. ¶¶4-11, 18). Working Retirees seek here what they have sought from the beginning of this litigation: a declaration that

Act 153's contribution scheme violates the takings clause and an injunction compelling the State's public pension trust fund to return their property. R. pp. \_\_ (Compl. ¶¶47-60).

**Prior, unrelated pension trust litigation in Layman and Ahrens**

In 2001, the General Assembly established laws enabling public employees who retired to return to work for covered employers without having to make further contributions to the Retirement Systems. Layman v. State, 368 S.C. 631, 635, 630 S.E.2d 265, 267 (2006). At that time, there were two separate avenues for participating as a retiree who had returned to covered employment—under the TERI program or as a working retiree. There were differences in how these retirees received their benefits after returning to work; however, in both programs they were *not* required to make contributions to the Retirement Systems. The employees under these programs are frequently referred to as “old TERI participants” and “old working retirees” because they returned to work *prior* to July 1, 2005.

In 2005, the General Assembly changed the rules by passing Act 153, requiring the old TERI participants and old working retirees to begin making contributions to the Retirement Systems on or after July 1, 2005. In response, Nancy Layman and Nancy Ahrens, as class representatives of the old TERI and old working retiree participants who returned to work *prior* to July 1, 2005, brought suit challenging the law in this Court's original jurisdiction asserting claims for breach of contract, estoppel, takings, and due process. Layman, 368 S.C. at 635-37, 630 S.E.2d at 267-68.

Layman successfully argued that prior laws created legally binding contracts that were violated by the new contribution mandate. Id. at 644-45, 630 S.E.2d at 272 (“because we find that the old TERI statute created a binding contract, we do not address the

remaining issues.”). However, the Court did not find the same statute-based contract for the old working retirees (id. at 643, 630 S.E.2d at 271 (“we hold that the old working retiree statute does not create a binding contract between the State and the old working retirees...”)), and remanded “the issue of breach of contract as to the old working retirees to the trial court for a case by case factual determination of whether any actions of the State with regard to individual old working retirees constituted a breach of contract.”<sup>6</sup> Id. at 643, 630 S.E.2d at 271-72.

On remand, Nancy Ahrens became the lead plaintiff for the old working retirees and the case was restyled Ahrens v. State. Back on appeal, and with an evidentiary record, this Court rejected the argument that certain signed forms “created binding contracts” between the State and the old working retirees. Ahrens v. State, 392 S.C. 340, 350, 709 S.E.2d 54, 59 (2011); see also id. at 351, 709 S.E.2d at 59 (explaining even the forms were contractual, “we do not believe that the Retirement Systems had the authority to create contracts without the statutory directive of the legislature.”). Based on its contract holding, the Court also rejected old working retirees’ estoppel theory. See id. at 352-57; 709 S.E.2d at 60-63.

None of the Layman or Ahrens plaintiffs, representatives or class members, are parties to the current case as they all returned to work *prior* to July 1, 2005 and raised claims challenging Act 153’s change to an existing contract (or quasi-contract). Working Retirees here (Appellants and the proposed class) all returned to work *on or after* July 1,

---

<sup>6</sup> The Court never addressed old working retirees’ estoppel, takings, or due process claims. See id.

2005. This claim seeks no support from any allegation that the State is liable for changing position. This is a takings claim—pure and simple.

### **The Circuit Court decision**

Respondents' motion to dismiss raised five theories in support of dismissal: (1) *res judicata* and collateral estoppel, (2) laches, (3) statute of limitations, (4) exhaustion of administrative remedies, and (5) failure to state a claim. See R. p. \_\_ (Defs.' Mot. Dismiss). Respondents' Rule 12(b)(6) theory argued this takings claim is un-cognizable because, in the Retirement Systems' view, Working Retirees "do not have a property interest worthy of constitutional protection[.]" R. p. \_\_ (Defs.' Mem. Supp., 1).

After hearing oral argument, Judge Gee ruled in Respondents' favor on *two* of the five grounds raised in their motion:

The Court: All right. Prior to this hearing, I received memos from both sides with numerous exhibits, which I reviewed as well as this entire file. I did carefully read the prior decisions in Layman and Ahrens, as well as the Fourth Circuit's decision in the Hutto case, and I'm prepared to rule on this matter from the bench.

I find that the Motion to Dismiss is granted. I find that the constitutionality of the statute has already been decided by the South Carolina Supreme Court and the plaintiffs in this case are bound by that decision. I grant the motion specifically on the grounds of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel. I also find as a separate ground the failure to state a claim as there's no protected privacy<sup>[7]</sup> interest. The retirees voluntarily returned knowing that this legislative scheme existed and voluntarily gave their property and this is not a State taking.

---

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