RECEIVED

MAY - 4 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000021

Gail M. Hutto, Debra J. Andrews, Elizabeth W. Hodge,
Margaret B. Lineberger, Lynn R. Rogers, Nancy G. Sullivan,
Jane P. Terwilliger, Julian W. Wells, and all others similarly situated,

Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Retirement System, Police Officers Retirement
System, South Carolina Retirement Systems Group Trust,
South Carolina Budget and Control Board, and South Carolina
Public Employee Benefit Authority,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

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

The working retirees in *Grimsley* were able to identify a state statute requiring the employer to make the employer contribution as the source of their right to not have to make the contributions themselves. 396 S.C. at 285, 721 S.E.2d at 428. Accordingly, the Court held that the working retirees “have asserted a cognizable property interest rooted in state law sufficient to survive the motion to dismiss.”⁸ *Id.*

Even if federal law could provide the source of the right, Working Retirees’ claims still fail. Working Retirees have not identified any federal law guaranteeing their employment or protecting them from having to contribute to the retirement system upon their return to work. The circuit court addressed Working Retirees’ argument that the source of their right was in the IRS Code, and specifically 26 U.S.C. § 401(a), which states that “contributions to a tax qualified trust must be non-forfeitable and cannot be diverted for purposes other than the exclusive use of the employee and his or her beneficiaries.” (R. p. 37.) After reviewing the Code, the circuit court correctly found that the IRS Code does not contain any language protecting Working Retirees from having to contribute to the retirement systems upon their return to work. The language in the Code does not say anything about whether it is permissible for the State to require working retirees to contribute to the retirement system as a term and condition of employment. Further, the IRS Code relates to how funds are used once they are contributed and not with the contribution of the funds in the first instance.

⁸ When the case came back up on appeal, the Supreme Court reinstated judgment in favor of SLED (the employer) because it had been determined that SLED made the employer contributions after all (and therefore was not violating the statute previously relied upon). 415 S.C. 33, 40, 780 S.E.2d 897, 900 (2015). The Court found that in agreeing to a 13.6% reduction in salary, the working retirees “received exactly what they bargained for.” *Id.* SLED argued that the working retirees agreed to be rehired at a reduced salary and had no unconditional right to be rehired, much less a right to a particular salary. *Id.* at 39, 780 S.E.2d at 900.

In any event, *Layman* and *Ahrens* make it clear that Working Retirees do not have a protected property interest. In *Layman*, this Court found that there was nothing in the terms of the working retiree statute that created a binding contract or that “evidence[d] an intent by the legislature to be bound to any terms related to the old working retiree program.” 368 S.C. 631, 643, 630 S.E.2d 265, 271 (2006). Further, the Court declined to address the constitutional claims that were before it. *Id.* at 644-45, 630 S.E.2d at 272. Additionally, the Court found that the TERI statutes “continue[] to be valid and those participants joining after July 1, 2015 are subject to the entirety of the requirements outlining the new TERI program in Act 153.” *Id.* at 644, 630 S.E.2d at 272.

In *Ahrens*, the Court found that “[b]ecause there was no guarantee of re-hire, and because these retirees were under no obligation to return to work after retirement, we view the language of the Working Retiree statutes as providing a mere option to retirees, rather than an offer.” 392 S.C. 340, 352, 709 S.E.2d 54, 61 (2011). Further, the Court found that the statutory scheme governing the employment of working retirees is “void of [an] express guarantee that retirement contributions would not be required.” *Id.* The Court then concluded that “[c]laims of unconstitutional taking, violation of due process, and impairment of contract are founded on the presumption that a contractual right has been unfairly taken away.” *Id.* at 358, 709 S.E.2d at 63. Accordingly, “summary judgment was proper as to the constitutional issues raised by Retirees because those issues are premised on the existence of a contract.” *Id.*

The working retirees argued in their petition for rehearing that the Court failed to recognize that the action for unconstitutional taking was “valid regardless of the existence of a contract.” (R. p. 344.) They argued that “even if there is no contract,” they had

“vested rights or entitlements that are constitutionally protected against a taking.” *Id.*

The Supreme Court rejected this argument by denying the petition for rehearing. (App. pp. 1-2.)

In addition to correctly finding that Working Retirees do not have a protected property interest, the circuit court correctly analyzed the issue in this case as relating to terms and conditions of employment rather than wages. This is not a case about how much money Working Retirees make or whether they receive the money they earn. Working Retirees receive the money they earn, less the statutorily required contributions. The issue is not whether there is any benefit provided in exchange for the contribution. That issue is pertinent to whether there has been just compensation if there has been a taking in the first place. Here, because there is no taking, the issue of a “quid pro quo” is irrelevant.

Nonetheless, Working Retirees do receive a benefit in exchange for their contributions and the retirement system has never conceded otherwise. At the hearing on the motion to dismiss in the federal court case, the following colloquy occurred:

The Court: But they agree that there’s no benefit coming back in return.

Mr. Harpootlian: Well, I’m not sure I heard that. Are they on the record stating that there’s no benefit, that we get no additional retirement benefit from this money?

Mr. Stepp: The benefit is their job.

Mr. Harpootlian: Okay.

The Court: Okay.

Mr. Stepp: That’s the benefit they get under the terms of which they have to make the contribution.

The Court: Okay.

Mr. Stepp: They don't have to make the contribution and they don't have to take the job. But if they take the job, they have to make the contribution and that's the benefit.⁹

(R. p. 590.)

Because Working Retirees do not have a protected property interest exempting them from having to make the contribution, the circuit court correctly dismissed this case.

III. The circuit court properly dismissed the complaint as time barred.

A. The statute of limitations has expired.

The circuit court properly dismissed the complaint based on the statute of limitations.

“Statutes of limitations embody important public policy considerations in that they stimulate activity, punish negligence, and promote repose by giving security and stability to human affairs.” *Anonymous Taxpayer v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue*, 377 S.C. 425, 438, 661 S.E.2d 73, 80 (2008). “A constitutional claim can become time-barred just as any other claim can.” *Block v. N.D. ex rel. Bd. of Univ. & Sch. Lands*, 461 U.S. 273, 292 (1983). Under South Carolina law, “an action for taking, detaining, or injuring any goods or chattels including an action for the specific recovery of personal property” must be brought within three years of the alleged taking. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(4) (2005). Similarly, an action brought upon a liability created by statute must be brought within three years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(2). “The limitations period begins to run when a

⁹ This Court recognized in *Grimsley* the benefit of being able to draw retirement benefits while still working and earning a salary. The Court stated: “This [is] no minor benefit.” 415 S.C. at 42, 780 S.E.2d at 901 n.2.

party knows or should know, through the exercise of due diligence, that a cause of action might exist.” *Anonymous Taxpayer*, 377 S.C. at 439, 661 S.E.2d at 80.

Here, Working Retirees have known since at least July 1, 2005, that a cause of action might exist. It was at that time that the statutes were enacted, and that Working Retirees could have and should have challenged the constitutionality of the statutes. Because Working Retirees are challenging the constitutionality of the statutes on their face, Working Retirees would likely have had standing under the public importance exception to the standing doctrine. *See S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. 640, 645, 744 S.E.2d 521, 524 (2013) (explaining that “standing may be conferred where the issue is one of public importance”). Rather than file a lawsuit within three years of the date the statutes were enacted, Working Retirees waited nearly ten years to file the present case. The circuit court properly concluded the lawsuit was late.

Even assuming Working Retirees did not have standing to challenge the constitutionality of the statutes until they retired and returned to work, Working Retirees alleged in *Hutto* that they retired and returned to work before August 2, 2010, the date the federal court complaint was filed. Throughout the complaint, Working Retirees alleged that “[s]ince [his or her] return to work” each of the named plaintiffs have been required to contribute to the retirement system. (R. pp. 378-380.) Here, the circuit court was permitted to rely on the allegations in the federal complaint to find that Working Retirees retired and returned to work before August 2, 2010. *See Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd.*, 551 U.S. 308, 322 (2007) (holding a court can “consider the complaint in its entirety, as well as other sources courts ordinarily examine when ruling on Rule 12(b)(6)

motions to dismiss, in particular . . . matters of which a court may take judicial notice”). A complaint filed on March 20, 2015, nearly five years later, is late. Working Retirees should not be permitted to avoid the statute of limitations by omitting the date they retired and returned to work from the complaint filed in this case.

Contrary to what Working Retirees argue, the alleged constitutional violation is not continuing and the statute of limitations does not start again every time a contribution is made. A similar argument was made in *Anonymous Taxpayer* and rejected. In that case, this Court held that the defendant’s failure to impose a pre-Act 189 tax exemption to retirement benefits each year did not amount to a continuing breach because the plaintiff was on notice that he had a cause of action at the time the law was passed. *Anonymous Taxpayer*, 377 S.C. at 439-40, 661 S.E.2d at 80.

Working Retirees contend *Anonymous Taxpayer* is distinguishable because the plaintiffs in that case had a vested right to the funds in question whereas Working Retirees do not have a vested right to the funds in question until the wages are earned and paid. This argument misconstrues the issue in this case. The issue in this case is not whether Working Retirees have a vested right to receive a certain salary level. The issue is whether it is lawful to require Working Retirees to contribute to the retirement system as a term and condition of employment. Accordingly, the statute of limitations began to run the date the statutes became the law of this State.

Finally, the statute of limitations was not tolled during the pendency of the federal court case. The case of *Jinks v. Richland Cnty*, 538 U.S. 456 (2003), is distinguishable because it involves the federal supplemental jurisdiction statute, which expressly provides that the statute of limitations is tolled on supplemental claims. No such statute

applies here. Working Retirees chose to initiate this case in federal court, and in doing so, ran the risk that the statute of limitations would expire while the federal court case was pending.

Because Working Retirees challenge the constitutionality of the statutes on their face, the cause of action for unconstitutional taking accrued the date the statutes became the law of this State. The alleged constitutional injury, if any, occurred at that time. A cause of action filed nearly ten years later is late.

B. The case is barred by the doctrine of laches.

In addition to being barred under the statute of limitations, this case is barred by the doctrine of laches.

The equitable doctrine of laches bars an action when there has been “neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done.” *Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 388 S.C. 645, 656, 698 S.E.2d 229, 236 (2010). “Under the doctrine of laches, if a party, knowing his rights, does not seasonably assert them, but by unreasonable delay causes his adversary to incur expenses or enter into obligations or otherwise detrimentally change his position, then equity will ordinarily refuse to enforce those rights.” *Id.* at 656-57, 698 S.E.2d at 236. “The party seeking to establish laches must show: (1) a delay, (2) that was unreasonable under the circumstances, and (3) prejudice.” *Id.* at 657, 698 S.E.2d at 236.

Here, Working Retirees filed this lawsuit nearly ten years after the statutes they allege were unconstitutional were passed. Ten years is an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law

should have been done. Working Retirees knew or should have known since at least July 1, 2005, they had a claim. Rather than act diligently, Working Retirees waited almost ten years to file this case.

The circuit court did not go outside the scope of Rule 12(b) in reaching this conclusion. The circuit court relied upon the date the statutes were passed and the date the Working Retirees retired and returned to work, which was some time prior to August 2, 2010, the date they filed the federal court case. A complaint filed ten years after the statutes were passed and approximately five years after the federal court case was filed is late. The delay was inexcusable because Working Retirees have known or should have known since July 1, 2005, they had a claim. *See Ahrens v. State*, 392 S.C. 340, 709 S.E.2d 54 (2011) (recognizing “the well-established rule that citizens are presumed to know the law and are charged with using care to protect their interests”). The circuit court was permitted to find that the delay prejudiced the retirement system because Working Retirees filled positions that could have been filled with non-retired employees who would not seek to have the contributions returned to them years after-the-fact.

Finally, although it is true that the circuit court judge did not rule on the statute of limitations and laches grounds from the bench, the judge was free to consider and address those issues later in the written order. The issues had been fully briefed and argued. At the hearing, Working Retirees’ counsel handed up additional case law regarding the statute of limitations defense, which the court was free to consider and address in the written order rather than at the hearing. (R. pp. 612-614.) When counsel for the retirement system submitted the proposed order to the Court, counsel alerted both the court and opposing counsel to the fact that the order included rulings on the statute of

limitations and laches defenses and that counsel for Working Retirees objected. (R. p. 626.) The court was free to accept or reject any portion of the proposed order prior to signing and filing it.

Because the circuit court correctly concluded that this lawsuit is barred by the statute of limitations and the doctrine of laches, the order should be affirmed.

IV. The issue of whether Act 153 violates the Taking Clause is not preserved for review.

The fourth issue on appeal raised by Working Retirees is not preserved for review.

“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007). “The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” *Id.* at 302, 641 S.E.2d at 907. “An issue is not preserved where the trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument and the appellant does not make a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the judgment.” *Doe v. Roe*, 369 S.C. 351, 376, 631 S.E.2d 317, 339 (Ct. App. 2006).

Here, although raised, the issue of whether the statutes are unconstitutional was not ruled upon, and Working Retirees did not ask the court to rule on the issue in the Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the judgment. Accordingly, the issue is not preserved for review.

Even if the issue were preserved for review, Act 153 does not effect a taking because Working Retirees do not have a constitutionally protected property interest to the

contributions. *See Rivers v. State*, 327 S.C. 271, 275, 490 S.E.2d 261, 263 (1997)

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